I. INTRODUCTION 

Kevin Selkowitz simultaneously resists a non-judicial foreclosure 

by parties with whom he never contracted (this action) as well as a judicial 

foreclosure seeking a deficiency brought by yet a separate party, all 

strangers to his original loan transaction. Ultimately the factual question 

is who has authority to do what, and where is the clear and undisputed 

proof of that authority to foreclose. This record of nearly 2,700 pages 

does not provide the clear and undisputed answers necessary to affirm the 

trial court's summary judgment dismissing these parties as a matter of law. 

But it does raise many questions of fact. 

This case is no stranger to our state's appellate courts. Bain v. 

Metropolitan Mortgage, 175 Wn.2d 83, 285 P.3d 34 (2012) (hereinafter 

"Bain") answered important questions posed by the federal district court in 

favor of Selkowitz, deciding that MERS was not a lawful beneficiary 

under the Washington Deed of Trust Act (RCW 61.24, et seq.) (hereinafter 

"DT A") and representing otherwise was a potential violation of the 

Consumer Protection Act (RCW 19.86, et seq.) (hereinafter "CPA"). 

And the factual question of lawful authority to act was highlighted 

by the fact "[a ]t oral argument, counsel for MERS was asked to identify its 

principals in the cases before us and was unable to do so." Id., 175 Wn.2d 
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at 107, n. 12. If MERS cannot identify its principal, surely this trial court 

was not in a position to do so under the summary judgment standard. 

The events at issue here took place mostly in April and May, 2010, 

years after the original note and Deed of Trust were executed and 

recorded. Respondent, LITTON LOAN SERVICING LP, a Delaware 

Limited Partnership (hereinafter "Litton"), was not a party to the original 

Deed of Trust, yet claimed authority in its Declaration of Ownership to 

initiate the foreclosure. However, it fails to establish a clear trail of title 

and authority from the original beneficiary. And Respondent, 

MORTGAGE ELECTRONIC REGISTRATION SYSTEMS, INC., a 

Delaware corporation (hereinafter "MERS"), could not have been the 

beneficiary entitled to appoint Respondent, QUALITY LOAN SERVICE 

CORPORATION OF WASHINGTON, a Washington Corporation 

(hereinafter "QLS"), as successor trustee on May 12. 2010, as already 

decided in Bain; which undercuts the claim of QLS that it had authority as 

a successor trustee to foreclose. Virtually every assertion in the statutorily 

required foreclosure documents is legally unsound and/or factually 

questioned. 

Reversal is the remedy. 
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II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

A. The trial court erred by granting summary judgment on 

July 24, 2014 dismissing Litton, and denying Appellant's Motion for 

Reconsideration on September 15, 2014. 

Issues 

Litton's authority to enable this foreclosure through its Declaration 

of Ownership (CP 930) is factually disputed. 

1. Are there material issues of fact that Litton's 

representations in its May 25, 2010 Declaration of Ownership that it is 

"the actual holder of the promissory note dated 10/31 /2006" is false? 

2. Are there material issues of fact that Litton's representation 

in the Declaration of Ownership that it is the "beneficiary" and 

"authorized Agent for the owner and actual holder of that certain 

promissory note ... " is not only false but self-contradictory? 

3. Are there material issues of fact that Litton's representation 

in the Declaration of Ownership that "The Note has not been assigned or 

transferred to any other person or entity" is false? 

4. Are there material issues of fact that Litton's representation 

in the Declaration of Ownership that Diane Dixon signs for Litton as 

attorney in fact for the beneficiary is false? 
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5. Is there a material issue of fact that Litton's representation 

in the Declaration of Ownership that it is the "Loan Servicer" is false? 

6. Are there material issues of fact that QLS acted as an agent 

for Litton making Litton vicariously liable under respondeat superior for 

the misconduct of QLS in the foreclosure process? 

7. Are there facts and or reasonable inferences in this record 

that Litton violated Washington's Consumer Protection Act by committing 

(1) an unfair or deceptive act or practice; (2) occurring in trade or 

commerce; (3) affecting the public interest; and (4) causing injury to a 

person's business or property? 

8. Are there facts and or reasonable inference in the record 

that Litton slandered title to Appellant's real property through the 

wrongful recording of a Notice of Trustee's Sale? 

B. The trial court erred by granting summary judgment on 

July 24, 2014 dismissing QLS, and denying Appellant's Motion for 

Reconsideration on September 15, 2014. 

Issues 

QLS's authority to act as a successor trustee before and after its 

alleged appointment by MERS on May 12, 2010 is factually disputed. 

1. Are there material issues of fact that QLS lacked authority 

from the true beneficiary to issue the April 23, 2010 Notice of Default? 
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2. Are there material issues of fact that the Notice of Default 

prepared by QLS violated RCW 61.24.030(8) by not identifying by name 

the beneficiary? 

3. Are there material issues of fact that QLS violated its 

statutory duty of good faith to the grantor required by RCW 61.24.010(4) 

by executing through its purported attorney a Foreclosure Loss Mitigation 

Form contrary to RCW 61.24.031(9) which requires the form be executed 

by the beneficiary rather than the trustee? 

4. Are there material issues of fact that QLS was acting as the 

agent of the beneficiary in violation of its independent duty of good faith 

to the grantor as required by RCW 61.24.010(4)? 

5. Are there material issues of fact that QLS on or about 

December 27, 2010 executed, served and posted a Notice of Foreclosure 

that falsely states "[t]he attached Notice of Trustee's Sale is a 

consequence of defaults(s) in the obligation to Mortgage Electronic 

Registration Systems, Inc., the Beneficiary of your Deed of Trust, and 

owner of the obligation secured thereby" when it is established as a matter 

of law in Bain that MERS is not a beneficiary under the DT A and 

admitted in MERS' answer that it does not own the obligation? 

6. Are there material issues of fact that QLS violated RCW 

61.24.030(7)(a) by recording and serving a Notice of Trustee's Sale 
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without proof that the claimed beneficiary is the owner of the note secured 

by the Deed of Trust foreclosed upon? 

7. Are there material issues of fact that QLS violated its duty 

of good faith to the grantor required by RCW 61.24.010(4) thus barring it 

from relying on any beneficiary declaration stating it is the actual holder 

of the note in accordance with RCW 61.24.030(7)(b)? 

8. Are there facts and/or reasonable inferences in this record 

that QLS violated Washington's Consumer Protection Act by committing 

(1) an unfair or deceptive act or practice; (2) occurring in trade or 

commerce; (3) affecting the public interest; and (4) causing injury to a 

person's business or property? 

9. Are there facts and or reasonable inference in the record 

that QLS slandered title to Appellant's real property through the wrongful 

recording of a Notice of Trustee's Sale? 

C. The trial court erred by granting summary judgment on 

July 24, 2014 dismissing MERS and denying Appellant's Motion for 

Reconsideration on September 15, 2014. 

Issues 

MERS' claimed authority to appoint QLS as a successor trustee on 

May 12, 2010 is a disputed issue of fact. 
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1. Are there material issues of fact that MERS falsely and 

without authority on May 12, 2010 purporting to be beneficiary of the 

Deed of Trust executed an Appointment of Successor Trustee, nominating 

QLS as the successor trustee? 

2. Are there facts and or reasonable inferences in this record 

that MERS violated Washington's Consumer Protection Act by 

committing (1) an unfair or deceptive act or practice; (2) occurring in trade 

or commerce; (3) affecting the public interest; and (4) causing injury to a 

person's business or property? 

III. STATEMENTOFTHECASE 

On November 1, 2006, Appellant, KEVIN SELKOWITZ 

(hereinafter "Mr. Selkowitz") executed a Note in favor of Respondent, 

NEW CENTURY MORTGAGE CORPORATION, a California 

Corporation (hereinafter "New Century") in the amount of $309,600.00. 

CP 1105-1108; 2311-2315. See Appendix '~ ". The Note specifically 

defines the term "note holder" as the "Lender (New Century) or anyone 

who takes this Note by transfer and who is entitled to receive payments 

under this Note." 

To secure repayment of the Note, Mr. Selkowitz executed a Deed 

of Trust in which Respondent, FIRST AMERICAN TITLE INSURANCE 

COMPANY, a Washington Corporation (hereinafter "FATCO") was 
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named trustee and MERS, was named purported beneficiary as nominee 

for New Century. CP 11-35; 1110-1134. 

At no time relevant to this cause of action did Mr. Selkowitz owe 

MERS, QLS or Litton any monetary or other obligation under the terms of 

the Note or Deed of Trust. 

Respondents allege that at some point between January 1, 2007 to 

January 30, 2007, Mr. Selkowitz's loan was assigned to U.S. Bank, N.A. 

as Trustee for GSAA Home Equity Trust 2007-1, Mortgage Backed 

Certificates, Series 2007-1 (hereinafter "the Trust"). No evidence of such 

an assignment has been adduced during the course of these proceedings. 

Moreover, evidence was offered on summary judgment that the loan could 

not have been transferred to the Trust as the loan was portrayed in the 

materials provided during discovery. See CP 2171-2415. However, on 

July 11, 2014, the Trust initiated a judicial foreclosure action under King 

County Superior Court Case No. 14-2-19165-1 KNT, in which the Trust 

alleged that it was "the current holder" of the loan. CP 2420-2427. The 

allegations contained in the Trust's Complaint contradict the allegation to 

be the holder asserted on summary judgment by the Respondents herein. 

It is also important to note that at no time relevant to this cause of action 

has the Trust ever alleged to be the owner of the obligation. 
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On April 2, 2007, New Century filed for relief under Chapter 11 of 

the United States Bankruptcy Code. CP 1160-1162. On or about May 5, 

2007, all executory contracts of New Century were rejected, including 

those with MERS. CP 1162. 

On or about July 1, 2007, Litton apparently assumed responsibility 

as servicer of Mr. Selkowitz's loan, despite the fact that the identity of the 

true and lawful owner and actual holder of the obligation remained 

unidentified and no evidence of a grant of authority to Litton was ever 

adduced during these proceedings, and, assuming the Trust had some 

interest in the Note and Deed of Trust, Litton was not identified as an 

authorized servicer in the Trust's governing documents. CP 570-796; 

1136-1139 

On April 23, 2010, QLS issued a Notice of Default pursuant to 

RCW 61.24.030, as agent for "Please Consult Cover Letter, the 

Beneficiary." CP 1136-1141. See Appendix "B". Unfortunately, no 

cover letter accompanied the Notice of Default submitted with these 

materials to Mr. Selkowitz. The Notice of Default specifically identified 

Litton as the "Loan Servicer." According to the Notice of Default, "Please 

Consult Cover Letter" declared Plaintiff to be in default. Nothing in the 

Notice of Default alerted Plaintiff to the identity of the true and lawful 

owner and holder of his obligation. Significantly, the Notice of Default 
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was signed by Susan Hurley as "Trustee Sale Officer", but QLS had not 

yet been appointed successor trustee. 

On May 12, 2010, MERS, as "beneficiary" of the Deed of Trust 

executed an Appointment of Successor Trustee, nominating QLS as 

successor trustee. CP 37-38. See Appendix "C". At the time this 

Appointment of Successor Trustee was executed, MERS was neither the 

owner nor holder of the subject Note and Deed of Trust. 

On May 25, 2010, Diana Dixon, as Assistant Vice President of 

Litton Loan Servicing, LP, "the Loan Servicer/Authorized Agent for 

Beneficiary", executed a Declaration of Ownership in which she 

represents that Litton Loan Servicing LP "is the actual holder of the 

Promissory Note" and that "the Note has not been assigned or transferred 

to any other person or entity." CP 478, 930. See Appendix "D". Three 

things are evident from this document: (1) Litton is merely the loan 

servicer acting as an agent for an undisclosed principal; (2) Litton is not 

the "beneficiary", only at most the agent for the beneficiary, despite 

alleging it is the "actual holder" of the subject Note; and (3) Litton is 

apparently acting as "attorney in fact" for the undisclosed principal, but no 

power of attorney has yet been adduced to date to support this contention. 

On December 27, 2010, QLS executed, filed, served and posted a 

Notice of Trustee's Sale in connection with the Property pursuant to RCW 
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61.24.040. CP 40-42. In conjunction with the Notice of Trustee's Sale, 

QLS executed, served and posted a Notice of Foreclosure that falsely 

states that "[t]he attached Notice of Trustee's Sale is a consequence of 

defaults(s) in the obligation to Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems, 

Inc., the Beneficiary of your Deed of Trust, and owner of the obligation 

secured thereby." CP 936-937. (Emphasis added) It is undisputed that at 

no time did MERS ever own or hold the Note. CP 114-115. 

IV. PROCEDURAL HISTORY 

On June 24, 2010, Mr. Selkowitz filed suit against the above-

named Respondents, seeking injunctive and declaratory relief, quiet title, 

relief for violation of the DT A (denominated wrongful foreclosure), libel 

and defamation of title, malicious prosecution, violation of 15 USC §1601, 

violation of the CPA and violation of 15 USC§ 1962 (FDCP A). CP 1-42. 1 

On July 27, 2010, the matter was removed to the United States 

District Court, pursuant to 28 USC §1446(a). During the course of the 

proceedings before the United States District Court, the trial judge, the 

Honorable John Coughenour, certified three questions to the Washington 

Supreme Court. These three questions were answered by the Washington 

At summary judgment, Mr. Selkowitz conceded his claims for 
malicious prosecution and quite title based on this Court's rulings in Walker v. Quality 
Loan Service Corp, et al., I 76 Wn.App.294, 308 P.3d 716 (2013) (hereinafter "Walker") 
and Bavand v. OneWest Bank, FSB, et al., 176 Wn.App 475, 309 P.3d 636 (2013). 
(hereinafter "Bavan<f'). 
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Supreme Court in the matter of Bain, which is the law of this case. 

Greene v. Rothschild, 68 Wn.2d 1, 10, 414 P.2d 1013 (1966) (quoting 

Adamson v. Traylor, 66 Wn.2d 338, 339, 402 P.2d 499 (1965)); see also 

State v. Wor/, 129 Wn.2d 416, 424, 918 P.2d 905 (1996) (Under the law of 

the case doctrine, the parties, the trial court, and the appellate court are 

bound by the ruling of the court of appeals on prior appeal until such time 

as they are authoritatively overruled.) 

On or about November 14, 2012, Judge Coughenour remanded the 

matter back to the King County Superior Court. CP 161. 

In June of 2014, Respondents each brought Motions for Summary 

Judgment against Mr. Selkowitz pursuant to CR 56. (CP 290-453; 456-

470; 797-820). 

On July 24, 2014, the trial court granted Respondents' Motions for 

Summary Judgment. CP 2517-2527. 

On August 4, 2014, Mr. Selkowitz filed a Motion for 

Reconsideration, pursuant to CR 59. CP 2528-2622. 

On September 15, 2014, the trial court denied Mr. Selkowitz's 

Motion for Reconsideration. CP 2670. 

On September 18, 2014, Mr. Selkowitz filed his Notice of Appeal 

to this Court. 2671-2687. 
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V. ARGUMENT 

A. Standard of Review 

A trial court's summary dismissal of claims under CR 56 is 

reviewed de novo, taking all inferences in the record in favor of the non

moving party. State ex rel Bond v. State, 62 Wn.2d 487, 383 P.2d 288 

(1963) (hereinafter "Bond''); Lilly v. Lynch, 88 Wn.App. 306, 945 P .2d 

727 (1997) (hereinafter "Lilly"); Snohomish County v. Rugg, 115 Wn.App. 

218, 61 P .3d 1184 (2002) (hereinafter "Rugg"); Schroeder v. Excelsior 

Management Group, LLC, 117 Wn.2d 94, 297 P.3d 677 (2013) 

(hereinafter "Schroeder") (citing Dreiling v. Jain, 151 Wn.2d 900, 908, 93 

P.3d 861 (2004)); Bavand, at page 485 and Lyons v. U.S. Bank, 181 

Wn.2d. 775, 783, 336 P.3d 1142 (2014) (hereinafter "Lyons"). Summary 

judgment is only appropriate if there is no genuine issue of material fact 

and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Balise v. 

Underwood, 62 Wn.2d 195, 381 P2d 966 (1963) (hereinafter "Balise"); 

Schroeder; Bavand, at page 485 and Lyons, at page 783. The initial 

burden on summary judgment falls on the moving party to prove that no 

material issue is genuinely in dispute. CR 56. 

Summary judgment is appropriate if reasonable persons can reach 

but one conclusion from all of the evidence, viewed in a light most 

favorable to the non-moving party. Rugg; Doherty v. Municipality of 
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Metro, 83 Wn.App. 464, 921 P.2d 1098 (1996). In reviewing the evidence 

submitted on summary judgment, facts asserted by the non-moving party 

and supported by affidavits or other appropriate evidentiary materials must 

be taken as true. Bond; Reid v. Pierce Co., 136 Wn.2d 195, 961 P.2d 333 

(1998). When there is contradictory evidence or the moving parties' 

evidence is impeached, an issue of credibility is presented that the court 

cannot resolve on summary judgment. Balise. 

Based upon the foregoing and the testamentary and documentary 

evidence that was offered to the trial court on summary judgment, 

particularly the Declaration of Sierra Herbert-West (CP 471-482); the 

Declaration of Barbara Campbell (CP 568-796); the Declaration of Mr. 

Selkowitz (CP 1090-1150); the Declaration of Tim Stephenson (CP 1151-

1517); the deposition transcript of Brian Blake (CP 1523-1594); the 

deposition transcript of Kevin Flannigan (CP 1595-1769); the deposition 

transcript of Sierra Herbert-West (CP 1770-1884); the deposition 

transcript of Kevin Selkowitz (CP 2050-2126); the Declaration of Jay 

Patterson (2171-2415); and Plaintiffs Request for Judicial Notice (CP 

2416-2427), there were genuine issues of material fact before the trial 

court inconsistent with any summary dismissal of Mr. Selkowitz's claims. 
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B. Strict Compliance with DTA Required. 

The Washington Supreme Court has often stated that the DTA 

must be strictly construed in the borrower's favor. Albice v. Premier 

Mortgages Services of Washington, Inc., 174 Wn.2d 560, 567, 276 P.3d 

1277 (2012) (hereinafter "Albice") (citing Udall v. T.D. Escrow Services, 

Inc., 159 Wn.2d 903, 915-916, 154 P.3d 882 (2007) (hereinafter 

"Udalf')). Substantial compliance with the statutory provisions of the 

DTA is not enough. 

C. Actual "Beneficiary" Entitled to Initiate Foreclosure is 
a Disputed Question of Fact. 

Under the DTA, only the duly authorized "beneficiary" has the 

right to declare a default, under RCW 61.24.030, or appoint a successor 

trustee, under RCW 61.24.010. See RCW 61.24.005(2). However in this 

case there are competing and mutually exclusive claims of beneficial 

ownership in the Note and Deed of Trust and status as holder in this matter 

that must preclude summary judgment. 

In reviewing the documentation before the trial court on summary 

judgment, the only direct evidence of the chain of ownership of the 

obligation is the original Note (CP 1105-1108), apparently endorsed in 
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blank.2 There the chain of title to the Note ends. See generally the 

testimony of Jay Patterson. CP 2171-2415. 

QLS alleges that this non-judicial foreclosure was initiated by 

Litton and that "Litton represented that [it] was the beneficiary under the 

Note authorized to foreclose on the Property." CP 472. Indeed, Litton 

purportedly prepared and presented to QLS a Declaration of Ownership 

that "Litton Loan Servicing LP is the actual holder of the Promissory 

Note"3 and that the "Note has not been assigned or transferred to any other 

person or entity." CP 478. But these representations are contradicted by 

Litton's own witness, Kevin Flannigan, who testifies that: ( 1) "after

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