No. 72505-0

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

KEVIN J. SELKOWITZ,

Appellant,

v.

LITTON LOAN SERVICING LP, et al.,

Respondents.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT MORTGAGE ELECTRONIC REGISTRATION SYSTEMS, INC.

Fred B. Burnside Hugh R. McCullough Davis Wright Tremaine LLP Attorneys for Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems, Inc.

1201 Third Avenue, Suite 2200 Seattle, Washington 98101-3045 (206) 622-3150 (phone) (206) 757-7700 (fax) COURT OF APPEALS DIVI

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

V. ARGUMENT

A. MERS did not cause any injury to Selkowitz's business or property.

Selkowitz failed to produce evidence that MERS caused injury to his business or property. MERS only took two actions. MERS was named on Selkowitz's original deed of trust, and MERS appointed a successor trustee under the deed of trust (at the direction of, and with authorization from, MERS's principal). MERS didn't try to foreclose on Selkowitz. MERS didn't keep Selkowitz from negotiating with his lender, or obtaining a loan modification. The Superior Court properly entered

summary judgment because MERS was not the but-for cause of any injury to Selkowitz's business or property.

Selkowitz needed to show that MERS took some unfair or deceptive act in trade or commerce that caused an identifiable injury to Selkowitz's business or property. See Hangman Ridge Training Stables, Inc. v. Safeco Title Ins. Co., 105 Wn.2d 778, 780 (1986). That required more than just evidence that MERS contributed to some injury. Under the CPA, Selkowitz needed to offer evidence showing that but-for MERS's actions, he would not have suffered an injury. Indoor Billboard v. Integra Telecom of Wash., Inc., 162 Wn.2d 59, 84 (2007). In the absence of a causal link between the injury and the unfair or deceptive act, Selkowitz has no viable CPA claim. See Guijosa v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., 144 Wn.2d 907, 917 (2001). That is because, as the Washington Supreme Court noted, even if Selkowitz was injured, "MERS may or may not have a causal role." Bain, 175 Wn.2d at 119.

MERS did not cause Selkowitz injury because none of MERS's acts caused Selkowitz's default or otherwise caused Selkowitz any identifiable harm. MERS took only two actions. MERS agreed to be designated as a nominee for the lender under Selkowitz's deed of trust (CP 341–66), and MERS, acting in in its capacity as a nominee/agent,

appointed Quality Loan to serve as trustee under the deed of trust. (CP 368–70.) There was no evidence MERS did anything else.

There was also no evidence that those particular acts by MERS caused Selkowitz any injury. MERS was named in Selkowitz's deed of trust, but that did not make any difference to Selkowitz or cause him any injury. "Prior to this lawsuit, I had no idea who MERS was or why they were named in the DOT." (CP 1092 ¶ 5.) MERS's role in the transaction was not important to Selkowitz when he borrowed the money, and he did not know or think much about MERS when he signed the deed of trust. (CP 397 (31:11–21).) Selkowitz freely admitted MERS's status as nominee beneficiary did not matter to him. (CP 397 (31:11–21).)

Nor was there any evidence that MERS's appointment of a successor trustee was the but-for cause of any injury to Selkowitz. Washington's Deed of Trust Act does not require such an appointment to be served on a borrower. *See* RCW 61.24.010, 61.24.030. Selkowitz never even saw the recorded appointment until his deposition, years into this litigation, so any representations in that document could not have injured him. (CP 403 (52:9–18).)

The evidence showed Selkowitz's complaints about MERS were based largely on his misunderstanding of the Supreme Court's decision in *Bain*, and not on any genuine sense of grievance directed towards MERS's

role in the transaction. MERS did not demand payment from Selkowitz or declare him in default. (CP 1093 ¶ 7.) Selkowitz never communicated with MERS or received documents from MERS. (CP 403 (52:19–53:1).)

Selkowitz's Default. Although Selkowitz quibbles about the use of the word "default," he admitted he promised to pay back his loan and admitted he broke that promise because he didn't have enough money to make payments. (CP 396 (25:20–23, 27:5–6), CP 398 (35:19–21), CP 399 (37:22–38:13).) Selkowitz's own testimony established why that happened. The "economy tanked" and Selkowitz's business stopped generating profits. (CP 399 (37:25–38:13).) As a result, Selkowitz did not have enough money to pay his loan. (CP 399 (39:13–18).) If Selkowitz could have paid Litton or Quality Loan to stop the foreclosure, he would have done so, but Selkowitz simply did not have enough money. (CP 404 (56:14–24).)

Payments to His Lender. MERS didn't prevent Selkowitz from making payments to his lender. (CP 399 (37:22–38:2).) Selkowitz knew he needed to make payments to Litton, the servicer for his loan, because he made payments to Litton before running out of money. (CP 398 (35:19–25), CP 399 (36:12–20).) Selkowitz didn't stop making payments because he thought the deed of trust contained deceptive or illegal statements or because his loan had been "securitized." (CP 411 (86:14–22, 87:10–19).)

Selkowitz understood his noteholder had the right to foreclose because of his broken promises. "Bottom line, if you don't pay, the note holder has the right to foreclose." (CP 396 (27:5–6); *see also* CP 396 (25:20–23).)

Loan Modification Efforts. MERS did not prevent Selkowitz from getting a loan modification. (CP 412 (88:5–8).) Selkowitz understood that MERS was not his servicer. (CP 398 (35:19–25).) Selkowitz knew he should contact Litton to discuss a loan modification. (CP 499 (36:12–20), CP 401 (44:15–18).) Selkowitz in fact did contact Litton to discuss loan modification (CP 400 (40:23–41:5)), although he does not know whether he qualified for one (CP 407 (68:10–16)) or even whether he would have accepted one had it been offered. (CP 416 (104:9–13).) Litton was not obligated to offer Selkowitz a loan modification. See Badgett v. Sec. State Bank, 116 Wn.2d 563, 569 (1991).

B. Selkowitz's business or property was not injured under the CPA.

Selkowitz suffered no injury to his business or property—a prerequisite for his CPA claim. To sustain his CPA claim against MERS, Selkowitz needed to submit evidence that he was injured by MERS in his business or property. *Hangman Ridge*, 105 Wn.2d at 780. The Supreme Court made it clear that "the mere fact MERS is listed on the deed of trust as a beneficiary *is not itself an actionable injury*" under the CPA. *Bain*,

175 Wn.2d at 120 (emphasis added). The Supreme Court speculated that Selkowitz *might* be able to show injury, but because the Supreme Court was only answering certified questions of law, it did not have the facts necessary to determine whether Selkowitz was actually injured.

The Superior Court properly entered summary judgment for MERS because the evidence showed Selkowitz suffered no injury to his business or property. Stress is not a CPA injury, MERS didn't damage Selkowitz's credit, Selkowitz was still living in the property (despite having made not a single payment since 2009), and Selkowitz did not pay any of the fees or costs of the lender in connection with the attempted foreclosure.

1. Emotional distress is not an injury under the CPA.

Selkowitz cannot recover for "stress" under the CPA because the CPA requires evidence of injury to business or property. "Personal injuries, as opposed to injuries to 'business or property,' are not compensable and do not satisfy the injury requirement. Thus, damages for mental distress, embarrassment, and inconvenience are not recoverable under the CPA." *Panag v. Farmers Ins. Co.*, 166 Wn.2d 27, 57 (2009). *Lyons* didn't change that rule. *See Lyons v. U.S. Bank Nat'l Ass'n*, 181 Wn.2d 775, 786 n.4 (2014) ("emotional distress, embarrassment, and inconvenience are excluded" from injury under the CPA). Selkowitz

alleged he suffered stress and mental anguish, but those are not injuries to business and property.

In any case, Selkowitz admitted his stress was caused by his financial embarrassment resulting from the downturn in the economy. (CP 404 (61:4–25).) Selkowitz was under stress and felt uncertainty about the outcome of this litigation (CP 1099–100 ¶¶ 20–21, 23), but admitted the stress was caused in part by the "loss of my business" (CP 1099 ¶ 20), and admitted he did not seek treatment because of the foreclosure or as a result of anything MERS did. (CP 405 (61:4–11).) Selkowitz sought treatment before the foreclosure started. (CP 302 at 6 n.1.) Selkowitz did not produce evidence that MERS caused his stress.

2. There was no evidence MERS caused injury to Selkowitz's credit.

Selkowitz cannot recover for his diminished credit score because Selkowitz admitted the credit score accurately reflected the fact that he was not paying his loan. (CP 406 (65:4–66:5).) Since, as discussed above, Selkowitz's failure to pay his loan was caused by his lack of money, not by anything MERS did, and since his credit reports accurately reflected his failure to pay, Selkowitz's diminished credit is not an injury under the CPA. Selkowitz's only concern was whether the right person is reporting his failure to pay to the credit agencies. (CP 406 (65:4–66:5).) Even if that

were injury, Selkowitz acknowledged he had no reason to believe MERS made those reports. (CP 406 (66:23–67:1).)

Selkowitz also has no CPA claim because the federal Fair Credit Reporting Act ("FCRA") preempts any state-law claim tied to credit reporting issues. *Dvorak v. AMC Mortg. Servs., Inc.*, 2007 WL 4207220, at *4–5 (E.D. Wash. 2007) (CPA claim for credit defamation preempted); *Ornelas v. Fid. Nat. Title Co.*, 2005 WL 3359112, at *4 (W.D. Wash. 2005) (CPA claims preempted by FCRA because "Congress intended the FCRA to be the sole remedy for a consumer against furnishers of information to credit reporting agencies"), *aff'd*, 245 Fed. Appx. 708 (9th Cir. 2007).

Under FCRA, if a borrower believes a creditor has made a false report, he must first contact the credit reporting agency so that the agency can ask the creditor to investigate the claim. Liability attaches only after a creditor makes an investigation, and fails to remove an untrue report.

Ornelas, 2005 WL 3359112, at *3. There was no evidence MERS made a false report (or any kind of report) to a credit reporting agency, no evidence Selkowitz contacted a credit reporting agency, and no evidence MERS failed to remove an untrue report.

3. Selkowitz suffered no injury to his real property.

Selkowitz never lost control over the property and continuously resided there since purchasing it in 2006. (CP 407 (70:22–71:2), CP 412

(90:13–91:6).) Although he stopped making payments in 2009, his lender has been paying the property taxes to avert a tax sale. (CP 407–08 (71:24–72:8).) Granted, Selkowitz was worried about losing control of his property, but the mental distress suffered by concerns over possible foreclosures are mental injuries that are not compensable under the CPA. *See Panag*, 166 Wn.2d at 57. Nor did anyone "slander" Selkowitz's title; Washington is a lien theory state and a deed of trust does not affect title to property. *Kezner v. Landover Corp.*, 87 Wn. App. 458, 463 (1997). MERS did not, in any event, make any false or malicious statement about Selkowitz's "title." Accordingly, Selkowitz was not injured by the loss of use or enjoyment of his property.

4. Selkowitz cannot recover fees and costs spent pursuing his CPA claims.

Selkowitz can't recover for fees, costs, or time spent in pursuing his CPA claims. The CPA requires evidence of an actual injury, distinct from attorneys' fees incurred pursuing a lawsuit. Accordingly, while investigation expenses "and other costs resulting from a deceptive business practice" can be an injury, the cost of "consulting an attorney to institute a CPA claim" is not an injury. *See Panag*, 166 Wn.2d at 62 (the cost of consulting an attorney to institute a CPA claim is "insufficient to

show injury to business or property."); see also Demopolis v. Galvin, 57 Wn. App. 47, 54 (1990).

In *Demopolis*, the Washington Court of Appeals held that a plaintiff who borrowed money failed to meet the CPA's injury requirement, even though the underlying loan agreement was allegedly usurious, because the plaintiff had not actually paid any usurious interest and so had suffered no injury. 57 Wn. App. 47 (1990). The Washington Supreme Court cited *Demopolis* with approval when it observed that the cost of consulting an attorney to institute a CPA claim is "insufficient to show injury to business or property." *Panag*, 166 Wn.2d at 62.

In cases like this one, where there was no foreclosure, courts repeatedly hold plaintiffs like Selkowitz have suffered no CPA injury. *See Thurman v. Wells Fargo Home Mortg.*, 2013 WL 3977622, at *3–4 (W.D. Wash. 2013) (resources spent pursuing a CPA claim are not recoverable injuries under the CPA; collecting cases); *Massey v. BAC Home Loans Serv. LP*, 2013 WL 6825309, at *7–8 (W.D. Wash. 2013).

The court in *Bakhchinyan v. Countrywide Bank*, *N.A.*, explained why it isn't sufficient for a plaintiff to point to his attorneys' fees in these kinds of cases. A plaintiff must produce evidence showing that his attorneys' fees were incurred as a result of some legal wrong done to him. *See* 2014 WL 1273810, at *5–6 (W.D. Wash. 2014). Consulting an

attorney to "dispel uncertainty" is not sufficient unless the uncertainty can be tied to the defendants' wrongful conduct. *Id*.

There is a good reason why those courts joined the Washington Supreme Court in refusing to recognize the costs of litigation as injuries under the CPA. If the rule were otherwise, courts could dispense with the "injury" element of the CPA because it would be met automatically in every case where the plaintiff's claim satisfied the other elements. *Every* CPA claim that makes its way to court involves fees, costs, and other inconveniences. If those fees, costs, and inconveniences are "injuries," there will always be injury in every CPA claim. But that is not the rule.

Selkowitz was not injured by paying any fees or costs associated with the foreclosure itself. (CP 403 (54:8–15), CP 417 (121:2–15), CP 398 (34:4–12).) Selkowitz did not pay those fees or charges or make any other payments on his loan. (CP 398 (34:4–12).) To the contrary, Selkowitz inflicted thousands of dollars of injuries on his lender by remaining in the property without making a single payment since 2009, leaving his lender to pay the taxes on the property. (CP 407–09 (71:24–72:8).)

Nor can Selkowitz recover for fees, costs, and time spent investigating or pursuing his CPA claim. Selkowitz admitted he did not pay any investigator, apart from lawyers and purported experts to pursue this action. (CP 412 (88:9–21).) The declaration Selkowitz submitted on

summary judgment didn't contradict his prior deposition testimony. To the contrary, he claimed his damages were "ongoing" because he continued to pay his attorney (CP 1099–100 ¶ 21–22) and his experts (CP 1100 ¶ 22), and he continued to spend time and money on the case and its ancillary costs (CP 1099–100 ¶¶ 21–22). These aren't injuries—these are just the ordinary costs of litigation. Under *Demopolis*, *Panag*, and *Thurman*, attorneys' fees to prosecute a CPA claim are not injury under the CPA—attorneys' fees are a CPA *remedy*, not an element.

Even if litigation costs could be injuries, Selkowitz still doesn't have a CPA claim against MERS. As discussed above, Selkowitz didn't incur those costs as a result of any act or omission of MERS. Selkowitz did not devise reasons to assert claims against MERS until *after* he hired a lawyer. (CP 410 (81:9–11).) And, as discussed below, the result of Selkowitz's litigation activity has been to prove what Selkowitz knew all along—that he broke his promise to pay back his loan, and that Litton was entitled to foreclose as a result. *See infra* Section V.D.

C. The evidence showed MERS did nothing unfair or deceptive to Selkowitz.

This Court should affirm the Superior Court because MERS proved that it did nothing unfair or deceptive in connection with Selkowitz's loan transaction. When there is no dispute about what the

defendant did, a court may determine as a matter of law whether a practice is unfair or deceptive. *Indoor Billboard*, 162 Wn.2d at 74. MERS showed that its acts were neither a per se unfair trade practice, as set out by the Washington legislature, nor had the capacity to deceive a substantial portion of the public. *Saunders v. Lloyd's of London*, 113 Wn.2d 330, 344 (1989) (quoting *Hangman Ridge Training Stables, Inc. v. Safeco Title Ins. Co.*, 105 Wn.2d 778, 785–86 (1986)).

When it answered certified questions of law, the Supreme Court reviewed a MERS assignment from another case that (wrongly) suggested MERS was acting on behalf of itself, and disavowed having any principal. The Court stated that, in that context, "characterizing MERS as the [noteholder] has the capacity to deceive," and consequently the first element of a Washington CPA claim—establishing an unfair or deceptive act or practice—was "presumptively" met. Nevertheless, the Washington Supreme Court was careful to say that naming MERS as beneficiary is not "per se deceptive." Bain, 175 Wn.2d at 117.

Legal presumptions like the one in *Bain* are merely that—presumptions—which shift the burden to the party opposing the presumption to produce contrary evidence. *See Cornelius v. Wash. Dep't of Ecology*, 344 P.3d 199, 213 (Wash. 2015) (party opposing presumption overcame it by presenting contrary evidence of intent to abandon water

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